
Crook County Counsel’s Office 
Mailing: 300 NE Third St., Prineville, OR  97754   Phone:  541-416-3919
Physical: 301 NE 3rd St., Ste 200, Prineville, OR 97754  Fax:      541-447-6705

MEMO 
TO: Crook County Court 

FROM: Eric Blaine, County Counsel 

DATE: July 25, 2022 

RE: Recommendation for award of Library HVAC renovation contract 
Our File No.:  Library # 49 

____________________________________________________________________ 

The County published a Request For Proposals to renovation work at the Library, to 
improve the current HVAC system.  The County received five bids.  As further explained 
below, all five bids contained substantial defects and are therefore noncompliant with the 
requirements of the RFP.   

The recommendation of staff is that the County award the contract to Cascade Heating as 
the lowest non-responsive bid. 

I would also recommend that the County authorize signing the contract outside of a Court 
meeting – the terms of the contract were published as part of the RFP, and therefore the 
public has already had the opportunity to review it. 

The remainder of this memo is as follows: 

A. Overview of bid prices. 
B. Discussion of bid defects. 
C. Conclusion. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

A. Overview of bid prices. 

The County received a total of five bids.  Due to a clerical error, only four were opened at 
the public bid opening.  The fifth bid, that of Quality Heating, was received on time, but by 
inadvertence was not included with the other four when they were opened.   

It is my legal advice that this procedural error does not invalidate the bid submitted by 
Quality Heating.  The Facilities Department sent out a message to all five bidding firm to 
advise them of the error.  As of the time of writing this memo, none have raised an objection 
to the County’s review of that bid. 
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The five bids were: 
 

1. Cascade Heating & Specialties: $115,346.00. 
2. Quality Heating: $133,290.00. 
3. Stephens Heating & Cooling: $139,165.00. 
4. Apollo Mechanical Contractors, Inc.: $176,077.00. 
5. Apex Mechanical, LLC: $317,000.00. 

 
As discussed above, all five of these bids were received on time.  However, all five of these 
bids contained errors significant enough to render the bids non-compliant with the 
requirements of the RFP. 
 
B. Discussion of bid defects. 
 
The following errors were observed in the bids submitted by these five firms: 
 
1. Cascade Heating:  Cascade Heating failed to include a statement describing the good 
faith efforts to hire local workers, and submitted a substitute scope of work / conflicting 
contract terms in place of those contained in the RFP.  If Cascade Heating had concerns 
that the County was asking for the wrong scope of work, and something else might have 
been a better fit, they could have approached the County about an addendum to the RFP, or 
proposed one response based on the RFP’s scope of work plus submitted an alternative 
option for the County to consider.   
 
2. Quality Heating:  Quality Heating submitted a bid bond that was otherwise 
adequate, but the bonded company was listed as Juniper Enterprises, not Quality Heating.  
Quality Heating failed to include the statement of good faith efforts to hire local workers, 
and failed to indicate whether it is a resident Oregon bidder.   
  
3. Stephens Heating & Cooling:  This firm submitted a substitute scope of work / 
conflicting contract terms in place of those contained in the RFP.  Stephens also failed to 
seal their bid, as required by the RFP.  The obligation to submit sealed proposals is 
contained in ORS 279C.365, and exists to protect the County from allegations of bid-
shopping, and protect competing firms from having their bids unfairly undercut.  If the bids 
are sealed, then the County will be insulated from the allegation that one of them 
improperly informed a competing company of what the bid is.  Dealing with bid protests, 
even when the allegations are untrue, are an unnecessary drain on public resources. 
 
4. Apollo Mechanical Contractors:  Apollo failed to submit the required statement 
describing good faith efforts to hire local workers, and proposed a substitute scope of work 
in place of what was contained in the RFP.  
 
5. Apex Mechanical:  Apex failed to submit the required statement describing good 
faith efforts to hire local workers, and did not include the required 1st tier subcontractor 
disclosure form.  The disclosure form is required by the RFP and ORS 279C.370, and could 
either be submitted with the original bid, or, pursuant to statute and the RFP, submitted 2 
hours after the deadline for the original bid.   
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Finally, there are a few instances where the bidders made some small errors which are, in 
fairness merely minor informalities such as would not qualify the bid as being non-
compliant.  For instance, one bidder signed in a space marked for sole proprietorships, 
rather than (as would be appropriate in that instance) for corporations or LLCs.  These 
types of errors do not jeopardize the substance of the bids, and I have not listed them all 
here. 
 
C. Conclusion. 
 
Given that all five of the bids received are non-compliant, staff recommends awarding the 
contract to Cascade Heating as the lowest non-responsive bid. 
 
Alternatively, the County Court could consider rejecting all of the bids, and republishing a 
new RFP.  Or, after reviewing the bids that have been received, Crook County could 
consider which bid is most compliant – of these, it is my recommendation that Quality 
Heating is the most compliant, and that its deficiencies are closer to the legal standard for 
minor informalities. 
 
One issue in particular that merits discussion is how often firms tried to submit alternative 
scopes of work in place of what is described in the RFP itself.  Several of the companies 
attempted this.  If the County decides to award the contract to one of these firms, the 
County should make it clear that it is not accepting the substitute scope of work, and that it 
will expect the firm to sign the contract based on what was described in the RFP.  If the firm 
does not, the County will need to consider whether to thereafter make a claim upon the 
company’s bid bond. 
 
I would therefore recommend the following motion:  “I move to award the contract for the 
Library HVAC renovation work to Cascade Heating as the lowest non-responsive bid, and to 
authorize the County to sign the contract outside of meeting.” 

 
 
Please place this memo and the attached document(s) on 
the Wednesday, August 3, 2022 County Court Agenda as a 
DISCUSSION ITEM, for approval  
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